











96. On or about May 23, 2008, PO caused a personal check on his bank account to be
written payable to DAS in the amount of $600.

97. On or about May 25, 2008, PUMPER created a fictitious Construction Agreement
purporting to reflect a verbal agreement of October 10, 2005 between PO1 and DAS for work
DAS performed at the PO1 residence, and arranged to have the Construction Agreement delivered
to PO1 through PE4.

98. A few days after May 25, 2008, PE4 returned the fictitious Construction Agreement
with the message that the starting date on the agreement was wrong.

99. On or about May 26, 2008 at approximately 5:34 p.m., PO1 called Kelley, who knew
DAS had worked on PO1’s house, and said he wanted to “give [Kelley] a heads up on something
[the anticipated grand jury subpoena] coming up maybe this week.”

100. On or about May 28, 2008 at approximately 7:45 a.m., PO1 and a person who was a
friend of both PO1 and PUMPER, had a conversation in which PO1 told the friend, "[W]ould you
tell [PUMPER] to please have his company send over this invoice on this. . . ." PO1 further
stated, "I sent a check in, just so there is enough money on account towards the, uh, project. You
know I paid for, as I was telling you for the bigger addition but I just want to. . . . You know I
don't want to have nothing hanging out there that could come back to hurt him or me, you know
what I mean," and that PO1 thought it would be "helpful if they saw money towards it." POI also
said, "I just wanna cover all the bases so he [PUMPER] don't have a problem and I don't have a
problem." The friend indicated that he would relay the message to PUMPER.

101. On or about May 30, 2008, POI1 had a conversation with a person connected to

PUMPER in which PO1 said, “The money can be applied for materials, we know there’s
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materials, you know what I'm saying,” and further stated there were a "couple little things" on the
POI1 residence that still needed to be completed by PUMPER.

102. On or about May 30, 2008, PUMPER caused DAS to mail an invoice to PO1
reflecting a $13,098 charge for the large roof area and bathhouse, a $27,225 charge for the grill
area and a $600 credit for a check DAS received drawn on PO1’s bank account on or about May
28, 2008 and described in paragraph 97 above.

103. On or about June 5, 2008, Kelley and PUMPER had a conversation in which Kelley
asked PUMPER, "How is everything going with you?" PUMPER replied, "I take care of my
friends. I look out for you guys, you b----ds." Kelley asked, "I mean. . . . Everything okay? Is it
all fixed? Everything, you know?" PUMPER responded, "I think. . .. So far. .. I mean. . .Yeah,
I should be okay."

104. On or about June 30, 2008, PO1 caused to be delivered to DAS a check drawn on
PO1’s account made payable to DAS in the amount of $723.30.

105. On or about October 22, 2008, PO1 caused to be delivered to DAS a check drawn
on PO1’s account made payable to DAS in the amount of $4,000.

All in violation of Title 18, United States Code, Section 371.

The United States Attorney further charges:

COUNT 3
(Bribery Concerning Programs Receiving Federal Funds, 18 U.S.C. § 666 (a)(2))

106. Paragraphs 1, 2, and 84 of this Information are re-alleged and incorporated by

reference as if fully set forth herein.

107. The City of Cleveland Building and Housing Department (“CBHD”) was a

21



government agency, as that term is defined in Title 18, United States Code, Section 666(d)(2), that
received benefits in excess of $10,000, during each of the calendar years 2006, 2007 and 2008,
under a Federal program involving a grant, contract, subsidy, loan, guarantee, insurance and other
form of Federal assistance. CBHD administered and enforced the Cleveland building, housing
and zoning codes as well as the national electrical code and the State of Ohio building, plumbing,
and elevator codes. CBHD registered building contractors, inspected all new and major
rehabilitation construction and provided nuisance abatement to condemned properties. CBHD
supervised and managed the Code Enforcement, Construction Permitting and Records-
Administration divisions. The mission was to ensure that all existing and new structures in the
City of Cleveland were maintained and constructed in a safe and habitable manner through
enforcement of the building and zoning codes, pursuant to the review of plans, issuance of permits
and inspection of property.

108. On several occasions from in or about 2005 to on or about May 23, 2008, in the
Northern District of Ohio, Eastern Division, Defendant STEVEN WAYNE PUMPER did
corruptly give, offer, and agree to give things of value; that is, cash and tickets to athletic events
valued at approximately $6,600 in total, to Bobby G. Cuevas, intending to influence and reward
Cuevas in connection with any business, transaction, and series of transactions of CBHD
involving any thing of value of $5,000 or more; that is, building permits, occupancy permits, sign
violations and other matters within the jurisdiction of CBHD relating to businesses and
construction projects in which DAS and PUMPER had an interest.

All in violation of Title 18, United States Code, Section 666(a)(2).
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The United States Attorney further charges:

COUNT 4

(Making a Materially False Statement in a Matter within the Jurisdiction of the Government,
18 U.S.C. § 1001)

109. Paragraphs 1 and 84 of this Information are re-alleged and incorporated by reference
as if fully set forth herein.
General Allegations

110. Beginning on a date known to the United States Attorney and well before May 23,
2008, and continuing until the date of the filing of this Information, the FBI and IRS, both part of
the executive branch of Government of the United States, and acting within their jurisdiction,
were investigating PUMPER for bribing Bobby G. Cuevas and others in violation of federal law.

111. On or about May 23, 2008, Special Agents of the FBI interviewed PUMPER in
connection with the investigation.
False Statements to the FBI

112. On or about May 23, 2008, in the Northern District of Ohio, Eastern Division,
Defendant STEVEN WAYNE PUMPER knowingly and willfully made the following material
false statement in a matter within the jurisdiction of the executive branch of the Government of
the United States: that $2,000 in cash he had handed to Bobby G. Cuevas on May 23, 2008 was a
loan, well knowing at the time that he made the statement to Special Agents of the FBI that the
cash payment had been a bribe.

All in violation of Title 18, United States Code, Section 1001.
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The United States Attorney further charges:
COUNT 5
(Obstruction of Justice, 18 U.S.C. § 1503)

113. Paragraphs 1, 84 through 88, 107 and 111 of this Information are re-alleged and
incorporated by reference as if fully set forth herein.

114. From on or about May 23, 2008, to in or about December 2008, in the Northern
District of Ohio, Eastern Division, Defendant STEVEN WAYNE PUMPER did corruptly
endeavor to influence, obstruct and impede the due administration of justice in the investigation of
PUMPER, Bobby G. Cuevas and other County and City of Cleveland officials by a federal grand
jury in the Northern District of Ohio by the conduct described below.

115. It was part of the endeavor to obstruct the grand jury investigation that on or about
May 23, 2008, PUMPER telephoned Cuevas to rehearse a cover story for the $2,000 bribe
PUMPER had given Cuevas earlier in the day.

116. It was a further part of the endeavor to obstruct the grand jury investigation that
shortly after May 23, 2008, PUMPER created fictitious loan documents making it appear that he
had loaned money to numerous individuals, including Cuevas.

117. It was a further part of the endeavor to obstruct the grand jury investigation that on
or about May 24, 2008, PUMPER removed the hard drive from his office computer and placed it
in a dumpster. On the same date, PUMPER removed the hard drive from his home computer and
threw it into Lake Erie.

118. It was a further part of the endeavor to obstruct the grand jury investigation that on

or about June 19, 2008, PUMPER again approached Cuevas and told him that he had prepared
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documentation to make it appear that the bribes PUMPER had paid Cuevas were actually loans.
PUMPER also said he would provide Cuevas with the date of the purported loans.

119. It was a further part of the endeavor to obstruct the grand jury investigation that on
or about July 18, 2008, PUMPER called Cuevas in an attempt to obtain personal information
about Cuevas that he could use in support of his false statement to the FBI that the cash payments
to Cuevas had been a personal loan made on the basis of his purported friendship with Cuevas.

120. It was a further part of the endeavor to obstruct the grand jury investigation that in or
about December 2008, PUMPER, in violation of his promise not to disclose his cooperation in
the investigation, disclosed to a subject of the investigation the substance of some of the questions
FBI agents had asked during a proffer session and further told the subject what PUMPER had told
the agents regarding the subject’s conduct. PUMPER made these disclosures so that the subject
would be prepared when and if he was confronted by law enforcement officials.

All in violation of Title 18, United States Code, Section 1503.

The United States Attorney further charges:

COUNT 6
(Theft or Bribery Concerning Programs Receiving Federal Funds, 18 U.S.C. § 666(a)(2))

121. Paragraphs 1, 2 and 10 of this Information are re-alleged and incorporated by
reference as if fully set forth herein.

122, The Parma City School District (“PCSD”) was a government agency, as that term is
defined in Title 18, United States Code, Section 666(d)(2), that received benefits in excess of
$10,000 during each calendar year relevant to this Information under a federal program involving

a grant, contract, subsidy, loan, guarantee, insurance and other form of federal assistance. The
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PCSD served the cities of Parma, Parma Heights and Seven Hills, Ohio, and its operations
affected interstate commerce.

123. From in or about Spring 2007 to on or about October 23, 2007, the exact dates
unknown to the United States Attorney, in the Northern District of Ohio, Eastern Division,
Defendant STEVEN WAYNE PUMPER did corruptly give, offer, and agree to give things of
value to John Kevin Kelley, an agent of the PCSD, intending to influence and reward Kelley in
connection with any business, transaction, and series of transactions of the PCSD involving any
thing of value of $5,000 or more.

124, It was part of the scheme that in or about Spring 2007, Kelley used his official
position on the School Board to assist DAS in obtaining a $96,000 construction management
subcontract with the PCSD.

125. It was a further part of the scheme that the PCSD paid the prime contractor, which
in turn paid DAS on the subcontract, in installments from on or about July 24, 2007 to on or about
October 23, 2007.

126. It was a further part of the scheme that in or about Summer or Fall 2007, PUMPER
gave Kelley approximately $6,000 in cash.

127. It was a further part of the scheme that on or about September 14, 2007, PUMPER
caused DAS to issue a $6,000 check to the Cuyahoga County Democratic Party which he knew
would be earmarked for Kelley’s school board campaign.

128. It was a further part of the scheme that on or about September 15, 2007, Kelley, and
others known to the United States Attorney, caused the Cuyahoga County Democratic Party to

issue a check in the amount of $4,850 to Clear Channel Outdoor, which paid for Kelley’s
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campaign expenses for billboard advertising and which Kelley reported on his campaign finance
report as an in-kind contribution.

129. The DAS subcontract generated a gross profit for DAS of at least $15,000.

All in violation of Title 18, United States Code, Section 666(a)(2).

The United States Attorney further charges:

COUNT 7
(Bribery Concerning Programs Receiving Federal Funds, 18 U.S.C. § 666 (a)(2))
130. Paragraphs 1 and 2 of this Information are re-alleged and incorporated by reference

as if fully set forth herein.

General Allegations

131. At all times material herein, Public Official 5 (“PO5”) was an elected member of a
suburban school district board located in Cuyahoga County. In that capacity, she served as an
agent of the school district and had the power to influence the expenditure of school funds for
contracts.

132. The suburban school district was a government agency, as that term is defined in
Title 18, United States Code, Section 666(d)(2), that received benefits in excess of $10,000,
during each of the calendar years material herein under a Federal program involving a grant,
contract, subsidy, loan, guarantee, insurance and other form of Federal assistance.
POS5 Bribery Scheme

133. Beginning in or about October 2003 and continuing through in or about December
2005, the exact dates unknown to the United States Attorney, in the Northern District of Ohio,

Eastern Division, Defendant STEVEN WAYNE PUMPER did corruptly give, offer, and agree to
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give things of value to POS5; that is, free construction work on her house, and on the houses of two
of her relatives, all three projects valued at approximately $20,000 in total, intending to influence
and reward POS in connection with any business, transaction, and series of transactions of the
suburban school district involving any thing of value of $5,000 or more; that is, approximately 20
school district contracts with DAS valued at approximately $458,600 in total, which contracts
generated approximately $117,000 in gross profits for DAS.

All in violation of Title 18, United States Code, Section 666(a)(2).

The United States Attorney further charges:

COUNT 8
(Structuring, 31 U.S.C. § 5324(a)(3))

134. From on or about June 25, 2004 to on or about January 11, 2008, in the Northern
District of Ohio, Eastern Division, Defendant STEVEN WAYNE PUMPER, knowingly and for
the purpose of evading the reporting requirements of Section 5313(a) of Title 31, United States
Code, and the regulations promulgated thereunder, structured transactions; namely the cash
withdrawals listed below, all said withdrawals from domestic financial institutions Northern
Savings and Loan and Century Bank, and all said transactions structured while PUMPER was

violating another law of the United States; that is Title 18, United States Code, Sections 371 and

666.
DATE AMOUNT OF CASH
WITHDRAWN
7/6/2004 _ $8,000.00
8/3/2004 $8,000.00
8/9/2004 $8,000.00
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9/2/2004 $8,000.00
9/14/2004 $8,000.00
9/30/2004 $8,000.00
10/12/2004 $8,000.00
10/26/2004 $8,000.00
11/18/2004 $8,000.00
12/9/2004 $8,000.00
7/11/2007 $8,000.00
7/20/2007 $7,000.00
9/14/2007 $4,000.00
9/21/2007 $7,000.00
10/13/2007 $7,000.00
12/26/2007 $6,000.00
1/11/2008 $4,000.00

All in violation of Title 31, United States Code, Sections 5324(a)(3) and 5324(d)(2) and
Title 31, Code of Federal Regulations, Section 103.11.
The United States Attorney further charges:
COUNT 9
(Mail Fraud and Honest Services Mail Fraud, 18 U.S.C. §§ 1341, 1346)

135. Paragraphs 1 and 2 of this Information are re-alleged and incorporated by reference

as if fully set forth herein.

136. At all times material herein, Business Executive or Employee 9 (“BE9”) was an

employee of Business 13 and owed a duty of loyalty to Business 13.
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137. At all times material herein, Business 13 was a company with an office in the

- Qreater Cleveland area.

138. At all times material herein, Business 13 prohibited its employees from using
Business 13 contractors to perform work on their personal residences.
The Scheme

139. Beginning in or about 1990 and continuing to on or about May 23, 2008, the exact
dates being unknown to the United States Attorney, in the Northern District of Ohio, Eastern
Division and elsewhere, Defendant STEVEN WAYNE PUMPER, and others known and
unknown to the United States Attorney, devised and intended to devise a scheme and artifice to
defraud Business 13 of money and property and of the intangible right to the honest services of
BE9 and others, and to obtain money and property by means of materially false and fraudulent
pretenses, representations and promises, and for the purpose of executing such scheme and
artifice, to cause matters to be placed in any post office and authorized depository for mail matter
to be sent and delivered by the United States Postal Service, in violation of Title 18, United States
Code, Sections 1341 and 1346.

It was part of the scheme to defraud that:

140. PUMPER provided things of value to BE9 and other Business 13 officials in
exchange for BE9 and other Business 13 officials using their influence to award Business 13
contracts to DAS. These things of value included several payments of cash to BE9 in amounts of
approximately $2,000 each for a total of approximately $5,000 to $7,000, two trips to Las Vegas,

several gift cards valued at $2,000 each, two to four tickets to each of approximately eleven
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professional sporting events and various repairs to BE9’s residence and the residences of other
Business 13 employees and their families.

141. DAS did not bill BE9 and the other Business 13 employees for the work performed
on their residences and those of their families, or billed them at a significant discount.

142. PUMPER inflated DAS invoices to Business 13 to compensate DAS for some of the
costs incurred by DAS in giving things of value to BE9 and other Business 13 employees.

143. BE9 and the other Business 13 employees described above concealed from Business
13 the fact that PUMPER had provided things of value to them and concealed the fact that DAS
was overbilling Business 13.

144. Beginning in or about December 2007 or January 2008, PUMPER and BE9
discussed DAS contracting with Business 13 to renovate a Business 13 warehouse in San Jose,
California.

145. On or about January 3, 2008, BE9 and PUMPER had a conversation about future
work for DAS after which BE9 said it was “very seldom” that he asked for a ticket to a basketball
game. BE9 then requested four tickets to a Cleveland Cavaliers game against Phoenix. PUMPER
agreed to provide them, stating that he had “a box.”

146. In another conversation about the California warehouse job, BE9 solicited, and
PUMPER agreed to pay, a $25,000 kickback. PUMPER never made the payment because
Business 13 reduced the scope of work to approximately $350,000.

147. In or about February 2008, PUMPER and BE9 discussed DAS renovating Business
13's home office in Cleveland at an estimated cost of $1,640,000. BE9 solicited and PUMPER

agreed to pay a $50,000 kickback in exchange for the work. On or about February 12, 2008, BE9
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instructed PUMPER to “send that over” and “mark that up I’d say . . . 50 [$50,000], ok?” They
discussed the budget for the project further, and PUMPER said, “You’ll still have a little bit of
room to play.” BE9 responded, “Consider the fact that I just want to hit a bogey of 50 grand, ok?”
PUMPER responded, “That will be fine.” Business 13 did not undertake the project discussed
above, so PUMPER did not pay the promised kickback to BE9.

148. On or about April 9, 2008, PUMPER and BE9 had a conversation in which BE9
said, “I expect DAS as I have expressed to others, that I can control DAS, because you know they
aren’t going to bite the hand that’s feeding them . . . Or the other one kill the goose that laid the
golden egg. . ..”

149. From in or about 2003 through on or about May 23, 2008, Business 13 paid DAS
approximately $9,104,479 on various contracts. As a result of the scheme described above, DAS
generated profits on those contracts of approximately $1,700,000, $491,000 of which was excess
profit.

Mailings

150. On a regular basis and on numerous occasions from in or about 2003 to on or about
May 23, 2008, PUMPER and BE9 executed and attempted to execute the scheme and artifice set
forth above by causing the following matters and things to be mailed and delivered by the United

States Postal Service according to the directions thereon within the Northern District of Ohio,
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Eastern Division: invoices from DAS to Business 13 and checks in payment of those invoices
from Business 13 to DAS.

All in violation of Title 18, United States Code §§ 1341, 1346.

A Lok b

WILLIAM J. EDWARDS
UNITED STATES ATTORNEY
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